8-427-2

Court of Appeals, No. 68156-7-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Katti Hofstetter, Petitioner

v.

City of Bellingham, Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jeffrey A. Thigpen Attorney for Petitioner 1811 "C" Street Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 676-9974 WSBA #11714

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Katti A. Hofstetter is the petitioner herein.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division One, decision of which the petitioner seeks review was rendered August 12, 2013. This decision affirmed the judgment entered December 2, 2011 in Whatcom County Superior Court following a 10-2 jury verdict in favor of the defendant City of Bellingham ("City") on plaintiff Hofstetter's tort claim. A copy of the decision is attached hereto in the appendix at A-1 through A-7.

On August 28, 2013 Ms. Hofstetter filed a timely motion for reconsideration in the Court of Appeals. This motion was denied by an order entered by the Court of Appeals on September 9, 2013. A copy of the order is attached hereto as A-8.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Should the word "allow", as used in the recreational use statute, RCW 4.24.210, be given a strict or liberal construction? (See the attached appendix at A-9 for the text of the statute.)
- 2 Is the proper construction of a statute exclusively a question of law that must be addressed by the trial court rather than left for determination by a jury?

- 3. Does the exception to the general rule that the denial of a summary judgment motion is not reviewable on appeal permit appellate review in this case?
- 4. Does a jury verdict in favor of a plaintiff with respect to an affirmative defense necessarily preclude review, under the harmless error doctrine, of a trial court's error in permitting the defendant to present evidence and argument in support of the affirmative defense?
- 5. Given the circumstances of this case was instruction 18, derived from language in RCW 4.24.210, a clear misstatement of the law?
- 6. To what extent is a party required to present a rationale in support of a proposed jury instruction?
- 7. Is it an abuse of discretion for a trial court to refuse a proposed instruction which would inform the jury of a well established common rule upon which a party 's theory of the case is based?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(a) Summary of Facts¹

On August 3, 2005, when she was 16 years old, petitioner Katti Hofstetter, and her friend, Tonya Brock, entered a largely forested City of

¹ Throughout this petition "VRP" refers to the Verbatim Report of Proceedings prepared by reporter Rhonda Jensen. "PRP" refers to the Partial Verbatim Report of Proceedings dated October 24, 2011 and prepared by reporter Margaret Watts. Unless otherwise noted, A1 through A25 refer to documents, photographs, etc. attached to the petitioner's opening brief.

Bellingham municipal park known as Whatcom Falls Park. They eventually entered into a portion of the park known as the whirlpool area to which neither of them had ever previously been. VRP at 423, 740.

While in the whirlpool area, Ms. Hofstetter observed some older boys engaged in an activity known as "cliff jumping" which, in Whatcom Falls Park, consists of jumping off the top of one, or the other, of the two nearly vertical cliffs descending to a large pool located below. VRP at 155, Ex. 6 (A17). After watching for several minutes, the two girls decided to participate. VRP at 430, 750, 774. Ms. Hofstetter removed some outer clothing and her flip-flops and then jumped down from the north cliff into the water. VRP at 752. While waiting for Ms. Brock to jump down and join her, Ms. Hofstetter decided to return to the top and began walking barefoot up a trail she had observed other boys enter upon and which appeared to lead back to the top of the cliff. VRP at 754-56. The trail begins close to the pool, twists diagonally up the bank and culminates at the top of the cliff from which she had jumped.²

At a location very close to the top, she stepped upon on a slick, muddy, wet spot located above a large root. Clerk's Papers ("CP") at

Various portions of the trail are depicted in photographs admitted as exhibits at trial. The upper portion of the trail can be seen in Ex. 9 (A21) which depicts the very upper portion of the trail with three boys standing at the location at the top of the north cliff from which the petitioner jumped. See also Exs. 6, 4, 8, and 2, at A17, A19, A20, and A22. Throughout this petition "trail" refers to this particular trail.

620, 897-98; VRP at 799-802. When her bare foot contacted this slick spot, she slipped, lost her balance and fell sideways over the edge of the trail, which, at that particular location, was adjacent to the cliff's edge, which was largely obscured by foliage, PRP at 7, 57-62-69-70; VRP at 183-84; Exs. 4 & 8, A19, A20. She landed on her back on the rocks located approximately 25 to 30 feet below with resulting spinal injuries which have rendered her a permanent paraplegic. PRP at 62. This incident occurred in the early evening during dry weather and at time when there was ambient sunlight. PRP at 57-62, 776.

Richard Rothenbuhler worked for the City Parks Department for nearly 40 years from 1967 until his retirement in 2006. VRP at 539-40. During the last 16 years of his employment his primary duty was in trail work. VRP at 541. Through his experiences as a boy growing up in the area and through his employment Rothenbuhler gained an extraordinary knowledge of the whirlpool area. VRP at 542-43. He explained at trial that the chronic wet spots on the trail were produced by water from seepage flowing underground down the sloped terrain above the whirlpool area. PRP at 21. He also testified that there was no easy way out of the pool below because "it's steep all the way around. It's a hole. It's over an edge. There's no route that is easy." VRP at 547.

Some of the other Parks Department employees testified at trial that they were aware at the time of this incident that the trail was used by members of the public, particularly younger people, who engaged in cliff jumping. PRP at 21-22, 68-69, 103-04; RP at 496, 500.

Brandon Stanley, who was a student at Western Washington University from 2001 through 2006, estimated that he had been to the whirlpool area more than 75 times prior to August 3, 2005 to observe cliff jumping. PRP at 49-50, 67-68. He was present at the time Ms. Hofstetter was injured and described seeing her fall over the edge of the north cliff at a location near the top of the trail. PRP at 59-61. He also testified that it was common for cliff jumpers to use the trail to return from the pool to the top of the north cliff. PRP at 69. Stanley characterized the upper portion of the trail as dangerous and narrow with "tons of loose dirt or kind of slippery mud and there's a lot of vegetation there". PRP at 69-70.

Despite the knowledge of City employees that the trail was used by cliff jumpers and Rothenbuhler's knowledge about the dangers it presented, no warning signs regarding the trail had ever been posted by the City above the north cliff nor had there ever been any signs placed at the pool below to direct users to another route for exiting the area. VRP at 559. At trial Rothenbuhler explained the reasons why the City took no action, with respect to the trail, to post warning signs, mark an exit route

or construct a safe exit route: "[W]e did not want to lead people into and out of an area like that, and to build a trail and make it easier for it would just make our problem worse, and we didn't want to do that." VRP at 547. (Quoted in Appellant's Opening Brief at 15.)

Prior to trial and during trial, Hofstetter presented undisputed evidence that from 1999 through 2009, the City had constantly maintained on the bank above the north cliff a large sign³ stating "Do Not Enter" and "Park Area Closed" [to the public] in large capital letters, by "Order of the Director of Park's & Recreation" and further stating: "Violation of this order is punishable by a fine not to exceed \$1,000 and or 90 days in jail." VRP at 166-67, 658. This sign and several identical signs were placed around the perimeter of a large area referred to as the "burn zone" following a fire in the park in 1999 which was caused by an explosion due to a ruptured gas line. As shown by the map admitted at trial as Exhibit 20 (A15), the whirlpool area is located within the burn zone which remained closed to the public after some areas of the park were eventually re-opened after the fire. PRP at 26; 29-30; CP at 505-07.

Both Ms. Hofstetter and Ms. Brock testified that they did not see the Do Not Enter sign above the north cliff when they entered the area on

Exhibit 1 (A16) is a photograph of a sign identical to the one the City attempted to continuously maintain above the north cliff. See A-11 attached hereto.

August 3, 2005 and believe it was not there because if it had been present they would have noticed it. VRP at 477, 751. This is not surprising in view of the fact that, due to frequent vandalism, the sign was often missing. Rothenbuhler testified that this particular sign had a "habit of disappearing" and had to be replaced on "dozens of occasions". VRP at 569. The City produced no evidence that it conducted an inspection of the area immediately following the incident to ascertain if the sign was present at the time the incident occurred.

However, as noted above, the City continuously attempted to maintain the Do Not Enter sign depicted in Exhibit 1 for ten years beginning in 1999. In an e-mail communication just eight days before Ms. Hofstetter was injured, one of the Parks and Recreation Department managers, Marvin Harris, directed Rothenbuhler to keep the Do Not Enter signs surrounding the burn zone in place. PRP at 34; Ex. 23 (A14).

(b) Summary of Relevant Procedure, Pleadings & Arguments

Motions for Partial Summary Judgment and Directed Verdict

In its answer to Hofstetter's complaint the City pled multiple affirmative defenses, including recreational use immunity under RCW 4.24.200-210 and subsequently presented motions for summary judgment seeking a dismissal of the complaint on these grounds. CP 919-21, 837-39, 814-26, 755-66. In its order denying the City's initial motion, the trial

court included a finding that "a genuine issue of material fact exists concerning whether defendant intended to hold the area where plaintiff was injured open to the public for recreational use." CP at 768.

After Hofstetter then conducted additional discovery, she filed a motion for partial summary judgment and presented supporting memoranda seeking to strike the recreational use immunity defense on the grounds that the evidence established unequivocally that the whirlpool area was closed to the public at the time her injuries occurred. CP at 600-01, 590-99, 590-599, 465-76. In support of the motion she quoted the language on the Do Not Enter sign (CP at 592) and cited Washington case law⁴ holding that the recreational use statute, being in derogation of common law, must be strictly construed. CP at 596.

Significantly, in its response, the City admitted that "physical entry [into the burn zone] was prohibited at the time Plaintiff was injured." CP at 542. The City also later admitted this fact in its trial memorandum. CP at 994. It has never been disputed that the location where the plaintiff was injured is within the burn zone. Hence, the public was not permitted to physically enter the whirlpool area and any park visitor who did enter was subject to criminal penalties.

Matthews v. Elk Pioneer Days, 64 Wn.App. 433, 437, 824 P.2d 471 (1988); Van Scoik v. State of Washington, 149 Wn.App. 328, 334, 203 P.3d 389 (2009).

The City responded by arguing, *inter alia*, that the public was excluded from the whirlpool area due to environmental concerns and that the closure was never intended to keep park users from swimming in the Whirlpool area on a "long term basis." CP at 542. However, this argument obviously fails to refute the undisputed fact that for several years prior to the injury date and on the injury date itself, the whirlpool area was closed to the public irrespective of the City's intent in issuing the closure order which provided no exception for outdoor recreation.

It is especially noteworthy that, although it failed to cite any case law to support the conclusion that RCW 4.24.210 should be subject to a liberal construction, the City recognized, as stated in its reply memorandum that the "key is whether recreational use was 'allowed' at the time of the accident being litigated". [emphasis added.] CP at 546. By then proceeding to argue that the court should adopt a "plain meaning" for the word "allow", the City conceded that analysis of Hofstetter's motion required the application of principles of statutory construction with respect to the word "allow" as used in RCW 4.24.210. The City offered various definitions of "allow", including what would amount to lack of enforcement of the closure order which it had enacted and which appeared on the sign with specific reference to the applicable

section of the Bellingham Municipal Code.⁵ CP at 546. However, the City's argument for an expansive definition of the word "allow" is untenable because the recreational use statute, being in derogation of common law, must be strictly construed. *Matthews v. Elk Pioneer Days*, 64 W.App. 433, 437, 824 P.2d 471 (1988).

Notwithstanding the City's admission that physical entry into the whirlpool area was prohibited on the injury date and the recognition by the parties that resolution of the issue before the court was a matter of statutory construction with respect to the word "allow", the trial court, without making any written findings and without addressing the legal issue presented, denied the petitioner's summary judgment motion. CP at CP 445-47; VRP (January 14, 2010) at 22.

Likewise, the Court of Appeals did not discuss Ms. Hofstetter's argument based on statutory construction. Instead the Court of Appeals concluded that the trial court was correct in deciding that the issue of recreational use immunity was a jury question and stated, by way of a footnote in its opinion that "the record shows material fact issues on the

There was evidence presented at trial that citations had been issued by a Bellingham police officer to persons he observed in the whirlpool area at a location below or past the Do Not Enter sign. VRP at 93-94.

question of whether the whirlpool area was open to the public for recreation on the injury date." Court of Appeals decision at 4, fn. 5.

The Court of Appeals also cited *Brothers v. Pub. Sch. Emps. of Wash.*, 88 Wn.App. 398, 409, 945 P.2d 208 (1997) for the proposition that its well settled that "[a] summary judgment denial cannot be appealed following a trial if the denial was based upon a determination that material facts are disputed and must be resolved by the fact finder." Court of Appeals decision at 4. However, as held in *Kaplan v. Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Co.*, 115 Wn.App. 791, 65 P.3d, 16 (2003), there is an exception to this rule when a summary judgment denial turns on a substantive legal issue.

Just as in *Kaplan, Ibid.*, the trial court in the instant case sent a legal issue to the jury in the erroneous belief that there was a material factual issue for the jury to decide.⁷ The legal issue erroneously relegated to the jury here was one involving interpretation of the word "allow" as used in RCW 4.24.010 and, accordingly, requires the application of

It is unclear to the petitioner why the Court of Appeals commented on the City's judicial estoppel argument inasmuch as this argument has not been advanced by the City on appeal and the trial court appropriately exercised its discretion by providing the City a fair opportunity to respond to the motion. VRP (December 17, 2010) at 6-12.

See the Appellant's Reply Brief at 2-5 for a full discussion of *Kaplan*, *Id.* and petitioner's analysis supporting de novo review of the denial of her motion for partial summary judgment. She also discussed this issue at length in her opening brief at 23-26.

principles of statutory construction.⁸ Pursuant to *Kaplan, Id.*, merely because the trial court stated that there were material issues of fact in dispute, e.g. whether the City intended to hold the whirlpool area open for recreational use, should not preclude appellate review of the court's summary judgment denial if the court's belief that the City's intent and reasons for prohibiting physical entry into the burn zone were material facts was clearly an erroneous belief. As noted above, the City admitted that entry into the whirlpool area was prohibited. Hence, the petitioner's summary judgment motion turned on a substantive legal issue, i.e. construction of RCW 4.24.210 with respect to the word "allow". Therefore, based on *Kaplan, Id.*, the denial of the motion is subject to de novo review. The Court of Appeals failed to address this argument.

When the presentation of evidence was concluded at trial, Hofstetter filed a motion seeking a judgment as a matter of law that the recreational use defense did not apply. CP at 122-35. This motion, which was well supported by citation to legal authority, summarized the evidence which demonstrated that no rational trier of fact could conclude that the City allowed the public to enter the whirlpool area on the injury

In this connection, it is noteworthy that the trial court rejected Hofstetter's proposed instruction 35 (CP at 97) which defined "allow" for purposes of RCW 4.24.210. Instead, the court gave instruction 17 (CP at 70) which sets forth the text of portions of RCW 4.24.200 and RCW 4.24.210. Not surprisingly, the jury expressed confusion during deliberations by sending a note to the court inquiring whether "allow" [as used in Question 1 of the revised verdict form, CP at 43] means "legally allow". CP at 5

date as long as the word "allow" is given a strict construction. Although this motion was denied, it constituted, by implication, an exception to all of the jury instructions relating to the recreational use statute.

In sum, the trial court's respective rulings denying her pretrial motion to strike the City's affirmative defense of recreational use immunity and denying her motion for judgment as matter of law are clearly erroneous. Essentially, the trial court held, and the Court of Appeals has affirmed, that a municipal government can prohibit the public from entering on to property it owns and impose criminal penalties for doing so and yet, at the same time, be entitled to recreational use immunity for injuries occurring on such closed property. As a matter of logic, such an anomaly only makes sense if the word "allow", as used in RCW 4.24.210 is liberally construed.

Prejudicial Error

The denial of plaintiff's motion for partial summary judgment opened the door for the City to present considerable, otherwise irrelevant, evidence about the reasons for the closure, the 1999 pipeline explosion, including its resulting impact upon the ecology of the park, and the City's "intentions" in closing the area with respect to the whirlpool area in its

See instructions 2, 8, 17 and 18 at CP 55, 61, 70 and 71 and attached hereto respectively as A-12, A-13, A-14 and A-15. Plaintiff also filed a motion for an order vacating or setting aside the jury verdict and granting her a new trial. CP at 32-41.

attempt to persuade the jury that despite the Do Not Enter sign maintained by the City above the injury site, the City nevertheless "allowed" outdoor recreation in this area. A thorough review of the report of proceedings demonstrates that, due to the court's error, Hofstetter was compelled to engage in lengthy and painstaking examinations of City employees aimed at extracting even the most basic admission that the public was prohibited from entering the whirlpool area. This was necessary to enable her to prove that the "recreational use statute does not apply to this case" as the court improperly required her to do to prevail on her claim. ¹⁰

Scrutiny of the record also reflects that due to the court's permitting the City at trial to raise recreational use immunity as a defense, several otherwise irrelevant "issues" arose, including the significance of the Do Not Enter sign above the whirlpool, whether, by including the phrase "hazardous area", it should be considered a conspicuous "warning sign" as contemplated by the recreational use statute and whether the sign indicated an intent to prohibit park users from entering the whirlpool area for cliff jumping or swimming. These "issues", in combination, became a red herring which prejudicially distracted the jury and grossly distorted the trial to the extent that Ms. Hofstetter was deprived of a fair

See Instruction 8. CP at 61. Attached hereto as A-13

opportunity to present evidence in a coherent manner to prove that the City breached its common law duties to her as either an invitee or licensee. Characterizing the denial of her summary judgment motion as mere harmless error because the jury ultimately decided the City did not allow outdoor recreation in the whirlpool area is far too simplistic and avoids the statutory construction issue.

Had the court properly granted the plaintiff's motion for a directed verdict regarding the inapplicability of recreational use immunity, jury instructions 2, 8, 17 and 18 would have been omitted. These instructions prevented the petitioner from sensibly arguing her theory of the case in that she was left with no alternative but to spend an inordinate portion of her argument discussing the recreational immunity statute in an attempt to prove it did not apply while at the same time arguing, paradoxically, that the exception to the recreational use statute, i.e. the injury causing condition was known, dangerous, latent and artificial, did apply.¹¹

Instruction 18

As the plaintiff pointed out in her opening brief, once the jury determined that the City did not allow outdoor recreation in the whirlpool area, instruction 18 became a clear misstatement of the law in that,

See the excerpts of the closing arguments regarding liability at VRP 1331-96

contrary to what is stated in the instruction, a possessor of land may be subject to liability with respect to injuries suffered by a licensee if the possessor fails to warn the licensee of a known dangerous condition on the land regardless of whether the condition is latent or artificial. Accordingly, because instruction 18 is a clear misstatement of the law in the context of this case, it must be presumed prejudicial.¹²

The jury had no way of knowing that it should disregard instruction 18 if it determined that the City did not allow outdoor recreation in the whirlpool area because the instruction makes no reference to the recreational use statute. Ultimately we are left to guess whether the jury's determination that the City was not negligent was based upon their conclusion that because the condition which caused the petitioner's injuries was not latent or not artificial, the City, according to instruction 18, had no duty to post a warning sign.

Plaintiff's Proposed Instruction 38

Proposed instruction 38 (CP at 100) is based on the long established common rule that the knowledge of an employee is imputed to the employer. It was proposed, *inter alia*, in order to ensure that the jury

See e.g. Blaney v. International Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers District No. 160, 151 Wn.2d 203, 211, 87 P.3d 757 (2004).

understood that Rothenbuhler's knowledge that the trail was dangerous was the equivalent of such knowledge on the part of the City. 13

Although it was pointed out by plaintiff Hofstetter's attorney during the lengthy colloquy regarding this instruction that, without the instruction, the jury would have no way of knowing that the knowledge [of the City's employees] is imputed to the City, the court, before rejecting the instruction, expressed doubt whether it correctly stated the law and encourage counsel to simply argue this point to the jury."¹⁴

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