RECTIMED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WIGHINGTON

2013 OCT 23 P 2: 22

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 68156-7-I

29427-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KATTI HOFSTETTER,

Petitioner,

۷.

CITY OF BELLINGHAM, a municipal corporation,

Respondent.

CITY OF BELLINGHAM'S ANSWER TO PLAINTIFF'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Shane P. Brady, WSBA No. 34003 City of Bellingham Assistant City Attorney 210 Lottie Street Bellingham, WA 98225 Telephone (360) 778-8270 Fax (360) 778-8271

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

IV. ARGUMENT

Plaintiff makes four general arguments for why this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b).³ As discussed below, each argument fails.

A. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with previous decisions of the Court of Appeals.

³ Plaintiff also appears to make arguments and assert issues in both the "Issues Presented" and "Statement of the Case" sections of her Petition. The issues in these sections appear to be addressed and subsumed in the "Argument" section, which is the section that specifically discusses the standards for accepting review.

The Court of Appeals dismissed Plaintiff's appeal, based on a summary judgment denial, because genuine issues of material fact existed in the record. The court's decision does not conflict with any Supreme Court or Court of Appeals decision. Plaintiff's argument that it does fails for four reasons.

First, Plaintiff wrongly asserts the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with decisions of the Court of Appeals. The Court Appeals was asked to review the trial court's denial of Plaintiff's summary judgment motion and her motion for a directed verdict. The Court of Appeals appropriately agreed with the trial court that there were issues of fact surrounding whether Plaintiff was allowed into the whirlpool area of the Park. Pet. for Rev. App. A-4. The Court of Appeals decision is based on a voluminous record that shows there was intense disagreement over the "allowed" fact. The Court of Appeals' ruling does not in any way conflict with precedent from this Court or the Court of Appeals and is entirely consistent with CR 56 and the countless number of cases examining whether a summary judgment motion should or should not have been granted.

Second, Plaintiff suggests that the issue that needs to be reviewed involves statutory construction. However, the issue before

the trial court and the Court of Appeals was not one of statutory interpretation. This argument is misplaced and nothing more than a red-herring.

The issue was whether the facts in the record supported summary judgment or a judgment as a matter of law. See Pet. for Rev. App. A. Plaintiff maintained that a red "do not enter" sign at the sight showed the City did not allow use. Pet. for Rev. at 8. The City argued that the sign was not enforced and the City did allow use. The City's argument was corroborated by the testimony of several witnesses. (*See* Statement of the Case *supra*.) Contrary to Plaintiff's assertion in her Petition, the City never admitted that physical entry into the whirlpool area was prohibited on the day Plaintiff was injured.⁴ Thus, the issue before the courts below did not concern statutory interpretation. The argument was factual, not legal. Therefore, there is no basis for the Court to accept review of the decision below based on a statutory construction issue.

Third, Plaintiff has failed to show how the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Matthews v. Elk Pioneer Days*, 64 Wn. App. 433, 824 P.2d 541 (1992) or *Plano v. City of Renton*, 103 Wn. App.

⁴ Plaintiff's citation to the record to support this contention is erroneous. The reference to CP 542 is a summary judgment pleading filed by the City where it explained physical entry was prohibited during the days following the pipeline explosion but NOT the day Plaintiff was injured (approximately six years later).

910, 14 P.3d 871 (1988). In fact, the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with either *Mathews* or *Plano*. In *Matthews*, the court interpreted the application RCW 4.24.210 in regards to an "outdoor event," but there was no factual dispute in that case. *See Matthews*. Similarly, in *Plano* the court held that the City of Renton was not entitled to immunity under RCW 4.24.210 because they charged a fee for moorage at the dock where the accident occurred. *Plano* at 915-916. Importantly, there was no factual dispute at issue in *Plano* either.

In contrast, there was a factual dispute in this case. The trial court correctly found there was disputed evidence surrounding whether Plaintiff was "allowed" in the whirlpool area.⁵ Noting the clear record establishing the dispute about this fact, the Court of Appeals correctly decided it was not error to instruct the jury on recreational land use immunity so that they could decide this fact. *See* Pet. for Rev. App. A-4. Thus, *Matthews* and *Plano* are not in conflict with Division I's ruling in this case.

Fourth, the trial court and Court of Appeals did not "liberally" construe the recreational immunity statute as Plaintiff alleges. Both courts found that because of the factual dispute, the question was a

⁵ The City argued below to the trial court and on cross-appeal (which the Court of Appeals never reached) that it was entitled to summary judgment because the incident occurred in a park.

"jury question." Pet. for Rev. App. A-4. This decision does not amount to a liberal construction on the legal application of the statute. It is a decision that recognizes there was evidence supporting both arguments on the issue of whether Plaintiff was allowed in the area.

Further, the trial court and Appellate Court's reasoning is consistent with precedent. In *State v. Davis*, 144 Wn.2d 612, 617, 30 P.3d. 460, 462 (2001) this Court held that courts should look to the ordinary meaning of words in the recreational immunity statute to discern their meaning. *Davis* at 612, 30 P.3d at 462. In that case, the court looked to the ordinary meaning of the word "artificial" to interpret its meaning in RCW 4.24.210. *Id*. Thus, allowing the jury to decide a factual issue in regards to whether Plaintiff was "allowed" under RCW 4.24.210 does not equate to a "liberal" interpretation of the statute. To the contrary, it is giving the words in the statute their ordinary meaning and allowing a jury to properly decide a factual dispute.

B. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's decision to exclude proposed instruction number 38. That decision does not conflict with *Crossen v. Skagit County*.

The Court of Appeals denied Plaintiff's appeal regarding proposed instruction 38 because she offered a different basis for its

admission on appeal than she did at trial and it was irrelevant. Pet. for Rev. App. A-6 - A-7. The Court of Appeals appropriately declined to review the issue because an appellate court will not consider review of a jury instruction if the basis for objection was different at the trial level. *B.J. Lasser v. Grunbaum Bros. Furniture Co.*, 46 Wn.2d 408, 414, 281 P.2d 832, 835 (1955); see also *Sulkosky v. Brisebois*, 49 Wn2d 273, 276, 742 P.2d 193, 195 (1987). The Court of Appeals, therefore, did not err.

Furthermore, the Court of Appeals' reasoning does not conflict with *Crossen v. Skagit County*, 100 Wn.2d 355, 669 P.2d 1244 (1982). The *Crossen* decision requires a party to distinctly state their objection to an instruction. *Crossen* at 359, 653 P.2d at 1247. In this case, the clarity of the objection was not at issue. Rather, the issue was that Plaintiff offered a different objection to the instruction on appeal. The court declined review because Plaintiff offered a *different* objection. Pet. for Rev. App. A-6. The court's decision is consistent with both *Crossen*, which requires an objection to preserve for appeal, and *B.J. Lasser*, which precludes raising a different objection on appeal. Therefore, there is no basis for this Court to review the exclusion of proposed instruction 38.

C. The procedural issues relating to the exclusion of proposed instruction 38 are not matters of public interest and, regardless, the instruction was appropriately excluded or was harmless error.

Plaintiff contends that the procedural issues related to objections made under CR 51 are a matter of public concern and warrants review by this Court. Pet. for Rev. at 19. Plaintiff has offered no argument to support her bare contention that this is a matter of public interest. To that end, Plaintiff has failed to articulate how the exclusion of one jury instruction that addressed an immaterial fact in the trial, that was not contested by the City, is of interest to the public. Proposed instruction 38 sought to instruct the jury on vicarious liability, which had no relevancy to the trial. Pet. for Rev. App. A-7. Plaintiff offers only a conclusory statement and has failed to articulate to this Court how an irrelevant instruction at this trial is a matter of public interest.

Furthermore, the trial court did not err in excluding the instruction. Proposed instruction 38 was a modified version of WPIC 50.01. WPIC 50.01 is "intended for use in tort actions in which plaintiff seeks to establish the vicarious liability of a principal for the tortious conduct of an agent committed while acting within the scope of employment." WPI 50.00. Contrary to Plaintiff's

argument, the trial court did understand the law and how the proposed instruction should be used. The trial court appropriately concluded this case was not about vicariously liability and excluded the instruction. See Pet. for Rev. App. A-7 and Jury Instruction Mot Hr'g RP 105. Finally, assuming for the sake of argument the trial court erred in refusing to give the instruction, it was harmless error because the knowledge of City employees was not contested at trial, Plaintiff was not precluded from arguing her theory of the case to the jury, and no prejudice was shown. See Pet. for Rev. App. A-7.

D. The case law addressing when a summary judgment denial can be reviewed after a trial is not in question and therefore not a matter of public interest.

Plaintiff asserts that "the criteria for obtaining review of the denial of a motion for summary judgment following trial is also a matter of public interest" and that the Court should accept review to provide further clarification. Pet. for Rev. at 20. However, the law for obtaining review for a summary judgment denial after a trial is not unclear, controversial or disputed. A party can only appeal a summary judgment denial after trial if the denial was based solely on an issue of law. *Kaplan v. Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company*, 115 Wash. App. 791, 799, 65 P.3d 16, 20 (2003); see

also e.g. Welch v. Southland Corporation, 134 Wn.2d 629, 632, 952 P.2d 162, 165 (1998). The denial of summary judgment in this case was based on a question of fact. CP 445-447, Jan. 14, 2011 Mot. Hr'g. RP 22-23, and Pet. for Review App. A-4 - A-6.

This point of law needs no clarification. Additionally, Plaintiff has offered no argument as to why this point of law is a matter of public interest. The Court of Appeals acted under straight-forward precedent in denying review of the summary judgment denial.⁶ Plaintiff only offers a conclusory statement to support her contention that this is a matter of public interest. Therefore, there is no basis for the Court to find this is a matter of public interest and should deny review.

E. Plaintiff's other ancillary arguments fail.

Plaintiff advances other ancillary arguments that have no merit. First, Plaintiff asserts that she was prejudiced by the court not granting her summary judgment motion. Pet. for Rev. at 13. But, Plaintiff prevailed on the "allowed" issue: the jury found the City had no recreational immunity. Thus, Plaintiff cannot claim any prejudice from the summary judgment denial or the verdict itself.

⁶ The Court of Appeals appears to have stated two reasons for affirming the trial court. One was that the record did show there was a question of material fact in dispute. The other was that the summary judgment denial was not reviewable because the appeal was brought post-trial and the denial was based on the existence of a material fact and not a legal issue.

Furthermore, Plaintiff's argument that she was prejudiced is pure conjecture. She speculates and baldly states she was prejudiced because she had to address the facts of the case at trial, but offers no proof the jury was confused. In fact, the jury's verdict was perfectly logical: they found Plaintiff was a licensee (one who is tolerated or permitted on land) and the City was not negligent (there were obvious and open dangers). See CP at 42-43, CP 76.

Second, Plaintiff alleges error in regards to instruction 18. But, Plaintiff waived her challenge to that issue by concession. Pet. for Rev. App. A-7 n. 9. And, that instruction was accurate. As evidenced by the verdict form, the jury was instructed to use instruction 18 only in regards to its recreational immunity decision. CP 42-43. Therefore, there is no possibility, or evidence showing, that the jury was confused by this instruction. Plaintiff's argument is speculation. The Court of Appeals did not commit error in upholding the trial court's decisions and the jury's verdict.

V. CONCLUSION

Plaintiff has not shown any basis under RAP 13.4(b) for this Court to accept review. The Court of Appeals decision is a straightforward decision affirming the denial of a summary judgment motion which allowed a disputed fact to be decided by the

jury. There is no basis to conclude the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with other appellate decisions or that matters regarding jury instructions and standards for summary judgment review are matters of public interest. Review should therefore be denied.

Moreover, Plaintiff originally took the position that there was a material issue in dispute and asked that the trial court let a jury decide the case. The jury agreed with Plaintiff that the City was not entitled to recreational immunity, but found the City was not negligent. She has had her day in court, which included a lengthy jury trial, a motion for a new trial, an appeal to Division I, and a motion to reconsider Division I's decision. The case has been fully and fairly considered and affirmed based on straightforward precedent. This Court should deny review, and allow the jury's wellreasoned verdict to stand.